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February 19, 2013

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of
Prospera Credit Union

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Prospera Credit Union, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and the consolidated
statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in members’ equity and cashflows for the year
then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Prospera Credit Union as at December 31, 2012 and its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants

Prospera Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
2012
$

2011
$

Cash and cash equivalents
Interest bearing deposits with financial institutions
Loans to members (note 5)
Other assets (note 9)
Derivative financial instruments (note 23)
Investments (note 7)
Property, premises and equipment (note 8)
Intangibles (note 10)
Income taxes receivable
Deferred income tax assets (note 19)

19,250
154,484
2,106,749
3,480
3,134
16,182
7,312
3,268
619
1,473

29,078
147,229
1,931,132
4,091
3,691
14,702
8,854
3,304
1,246

TOTAL ASSETS

2,315,951

2,143,327

170,770
2,029,488
8,437
4,493
-

69,924
1,961,715
6,122
6,227
904

2,213,188

2,044,892

4,764
96,950
1,049

4,983
91,206
2,246

102,763

98,435

2,315,951

2,143,327

Assets

Liabilities
Borrowings (note 11)
Member deposits (note 12)
Retirement benefit obligation (note 14)
Other liabilities
Income taxes payable

Members’ Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to members
Members’ equity shares (note 13(c))
Retained earnings
Other reserves

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Commitments and contingent liabilities (note 20)

Approved by the Board of Directors

_____________________________ Director _________________________________ Director
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Prospera Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
2012
$

2011
$

82,353
5,729

81,958
7,305

88,082

89,263

35,451
1,731

34,708
2,293

37,182

37,001

Net interest income (note 15)
Loan impairment expense (note 5)
Net interest income after loan impairment expense
Other income (note 16)
Net interest income and other income
Non-interest expenses

50,900

52,262

1,500

2,000

49,400

50,262

11,590

19,872

60,990

70,134

Salaries and employee benefits (note 17)
Occupancy
Administration
Other (note 18)
Depreciation and amortization
Data processing
Clearing charges
Communication and marketing

28,670
7,149
4,059
3,056
2,755
2,046
1,888
1,758

28,713
7,262
4,382
3,800
2,672
2,048
1,975
1,653

51,381

52,505

9,609

17,629

817

831

8,792

16,798

597
155

2,317
80

752

2,397

8,040

14,401

-

14

Interest income
Loans
Interest bearing deposits with financial institutions and investments

Interest expense
Deposits
Borrowings

Income before dividends on member deposit shares
Dividends on member deposit shares
Income before income taxes
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes (note 19)
Current
Deferred

Net income for the year
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year
Change in fair value of retained interests - net of taxes of ($nil)
(2011 - ($2))
Changes related to defined benefit plans, net of taxes of $336
(2011 - $335) (note 14(d))
Net unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges - net of taxes of ($146)
(2011 - ($310)) (note 23)

(2,158)

(2,149)

(1,197)

1,987

(3,355)

Comprehensive income attributable to members
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4,685

(148)
14,253

Prospera Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
Other reserves
Members’
equity
shares
$

Retained
earnings
$

Cash flow
hedges
$

Retained
interest
$

Members’
equity
$

5,343

79,101

229

16

84,689

Net income and other
(1)
comprehensive income

-

12,252

1,987

14

14,253

Dividends on members’ equity
shares

-

(147)

-

-

(147)

(360)

-

-

-

(360)

4,983

91,206

2,216

30

98,435

Net income and other
(2)
comprehensive income

-

5,882

(1,197)

-

4,685

Dividends on members’ equity
shares

-

(138)

-

-

(138)

(219)

-

-

-

(219)

4,764

96,950

1,019

30

102,763

Balance - December 31,
2010

Share redemptions

Balance - December 31,
2011

Share redemptions

Balance - December 31,
2012

(1) Retained earnings for the year ended December 31, 2011 include comprehensive losses related to changes in
defined benefit plans in the amount of $2,149, net of tax.
(2) Retained earnings for the year ended December 31, 2012 include comprehensive losses related to changes in
defined benefit plans in the amount of $2,158, net of tax.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Prospera Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
2012
$

2011
$

8,040

14,401

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income for the year
Items not affecting cash
Net interest income
Depreciation and amortization
Loan impairment expense
Provision for income taxes
Deferred income taxes
Net change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (note 23)
Amortization of service liability (note 6)
Loss on sale of property, premises and equipment (note 18)
Gain on sale of property held for resale
Gain on sale of general insurance assets (note 1)
Net change in loans to members
Net change in member deposits
Interest received
Interest paid
Issuance of member deposit shares
Redemption of member deposit shares
Dividends paid
Change in other assets and retirement benefit asset
Net change in derivative financial instruments
Change in other liabilities and retirement benefit obligation
Income taxes paid
Income tax reduction related to dividends
Other non-cash items

(50,900)
2,755
1,500
575
155
197
(69)
14
(37,733)
(177,117)
68,220
88,520
(37,987)
237
(684)
(977)
611
360
(1,773)
(1,997)
22
(375)
(100,673)

(52,262)
2,672
2,000
2,294
80
(590)
(68)
294
(39)
(6,492)
(37,710)
(111,245)
81,034
89,901
(36,848)
257
(438)
(1,002)
5,612
(741)
(563)
(2,158)
23
1,111
(12,767)

(50,000)
42,745
(1,480)
(1,191)
(9,926)

(37,060)
45,115
(9,012)
(5,344)
(21)
177
7,359
676
1,890

89,959
61,219
(48,000)
(2,188)
(219)
100,771

48,000
20,824
(42,000)
(360)
26,464

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in Central 1 term deposits
Proceeds from maturity of Central 1 term deposits
Increase in investments
Additions to property, premises, equipment and intangibles
Additions to property held for resale
Proceeds from disposition of property, premises and equipment
Net proceeds from disposition of general insurance assets
Net proceeds from disposition of property held for resale

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowed funds
Proceeds from securitization transactions
Repayments of borrowed funds
Repayments of secured borrowings
Redemption of members’ equity shares

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents - End of year

(9,828)

15,587

29,078

13,491

19,250

29,078

(3,656)
22,906
19,250

12,310
16,768
29,078

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Demand deposits and clearings with Central 1
Term deposits with Central 1 with less than 90 days to maturity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)

1

General information
Prospera Credit Union (the “Credit Union”) is incorporated under the Credit Union Incorporation Act of British
Columbia and its operations are subject to the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia (the “FIA”). The
Credit Union’s primary business activities include providing financial services to its members and the general
public across British Columbia. It provides retail and business financial services through 16 branches, on-line
banking and a contact centre. In addition, the Credit Union provided services through seven insurance offices
until April 30, 2011 when all related assets were sold through its wholly owned subsidiary, Prospera Insurance
Agencies Ltd.
The Credit Union is domiciled in Canada and its registered office is at #500 - 32071 S. Fraser Way, Abbotsford,
British Columbia.
The consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on
February 13, 2013. The Board has the authority to amend the financial statements after issue.

2

Basis of presentation
a)

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The
significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set
out in note 3. The consolidated financial statements comply with the requirements of IFRS.

b)

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for availablefor-sale financial assets, financial assets and financial liabilities accounted for at fair value through profit
or loss and all derivative financial instruments, which are measured at fair value.

c)

Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the Credit Union’s
functional currency. The figures shown in the consolidated financial statements are expressed in
thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated.

(1)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
d)

Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from those
estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
Information on significant areas of uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are
described in note 4.

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
a)

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and the results of operations and cash
flows of the Credit Union and its subsidiaries. The wholly owned subsidiaries are Prospera Insurance
Agencies Ltd., Prospera Technologies Inc., 413297 B.C. Ltd., and Prospera Holdings Ltd.
Intercompany balances, and income and expenses arising from intercompany transactions, are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Intercompany losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. The integration of the subsidiaries
into the consolidated financial statements is based on consistent accounting and valuation methods for
similar transactions and other occurrences under similar circumstances.

b)

Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Credit Union at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.
The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between the amortized cost in the
functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the
period, and the amortized cost in the foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the
reporting period. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognized in the consolidated
statement 0f income. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency
that are measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

(2)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
c)

Cash resources
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid balances with less than 90 days maturity from the original
date of issuance. Interest bearing deposits with financial institutions include deposits with Central 1 Credit
Union (“Central 1”) and restricted cash deposits held in custodian accounts for repayment on secured
borrowings.

d)

Financial assets and liabilities: categorization, measurement and recognition
i)

Financial assets
Management determines the categorization of its financial assets at initial recognition. The Credit
Union initially recognizes loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All
other financial assets, including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), are
recognized initially on the trade date at which the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. The Credit Union’s financial assets are categorized as one of the
following: financial assets at FVTPL, loans and receivables, financial assets available-for-sale (“AFS”)
and financial assets held-to-maturity (“HTM”).
Financial assets at FVTPL
This category comprises financial assets classified as FVTPL and financial assets designated by the
Credit Union as FVTPL upon initial recognition.
A financial asset is required to be classified as FVTPL if it is acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking. Derivative financial instruments are also categorized as FVTPL unless they are
designated and are effective as hedging instruments in a hedge accounting relationship. Gains and
losses on assets classified as FVTPL are recorded in net income.
The Credit Union has not designated any assets as FVTPL. The Credit Union’s financial assets
classified as FVTPL consist of retained interests in securitized loans and derivative financial
instruments such as equity options and interest rate swaps related to securitized loans, index-linked
deposit contracts, and economic hedging.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market, other than:
1)

those that the Credit Union intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are classified
as FVTPL, and those that the Credit Union upon initial recognition designates as FVTPL;

2)

those that the Credit Union upon initial recognition designates as AFS; or

(3)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
3)

those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, for reasons
other than credit deterioration.

Loans and receivables are recorded at fair value on initial recognition and subsequently at amortized
cost using the effective interest method.
The Credit Union’s loans and receivables principally consist of cash and cash equivalents, loans to
members, interest bearing deposits with financial institutions, and other receivables.
Financial assets available-for-sale
AFS assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or are not classified as
FVTPL, not designated as FVTPL or do not qualify as loans and receivables. AFS assets are recorded
at fair value. Subsequently, they are carried at fair value, unless they do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and fair value is not reliably determinable, in which case they are carried at
cost.
Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of AFS financial assets are
recognized directly in equity, until the financial asset is derecognized or impaired. As a result of the
derecognition or impairment of an AFS asset, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in
equity is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
Interest income on AFS assets is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognized in
the consolidated statement of income. Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognized in the
consolidated statement of income when the Credit Union’s right to receive payment is established.
The Credit Union’s AFS assets consist of investments.
Financial assets held-to-maturity
HTM assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Credit Union’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity, other than:
1)

those that Credit Union upon initial recognition designates as FVTPL;

2)

those that the Credit Union designates as AFS; and

3)

those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.

These are initially recognized at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and
measured subsequently at amortized cost, using the effective interest method. Interest on HTM assets
is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
The Credit Union’s HTM assets consist of government backed securities.

(4)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
ii)

Financial liabilities
Management determines the categorization of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. The Credit
Union initially recognizes financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at FVTPL) on the trade
date at which the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial liabilities are categorized as FVTPL or financial liabilities at amortized cost. Financial
liabilities are derecognized when extinguished.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL or are designated by the Credit
Union as FVTPL.
A financial liability is required to be classified as FVTPL if it is incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial liabilities that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profittaking. Derivative liabilities are also categorized as FVTPL unless they are designated and are effective
hedging instruments in a hedge accounting relationship. Gains and losses on FVTPL financial
liabilities are recorded in net income.
At December 31, 2012, the Credit Union has financial liabilities designated as FVTPL. The Credit
Union’s financial liabilities classified as FVTPL consist of equity linked derivatives, secured
borrowings and other derivative liabilities.
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Financial liabilities that are not classified as FVTPL fall into this category. Financial liabilities at
amortized cost consist of amounts drawn on lines of credit, accounts payable, member deposits,
secured borrowings, and member deposit shares. These are measured at fair value on initial
recognition and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

iii) Fair value of financial instruments
The best evidence of fair value at initial recognition is prices quoted in an active market. Fair values of
financial instruments quoted in active markets are determined by reference to closing bid prices at the
reporting date. If there is no active market for a financial instrument, the Credit Union establishes fair
value using an appropriate valuation technique. These techniques principally include the use of recent
arm’s length transactions for investments in unquoted securities, discounted cash flow analysis for
derivatives and third-party option pricing models for index-linked option contracts and other
valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.

(5)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instruments and include adjustments to take account of the
credit risk of the Credit Union and the counterparty as relevant. Fair value estimates obtained from
models are adjusted for other factors, such as liquidity risk or model uncertainties, to the extent that
the Credit Union believes a third-party market participant would take them into account in pricing a
transaction. Fair values determined by applying valuation techniques utilize independent observable
market inputs to the maximum extent possible.
iv)

Impairment of financial assets
The Credit Union assesses, at each consolidated statement of financial position date, whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are recorded only if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a “loss event”) and the loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the
borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Credit Union on non-market terms that the Credit Union would not otherwise consider, indications
that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, or other observable data relating to a group of assets
such as conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.
Financial assets classified as loans and receivables
The Credit Union maintains an allowance for credit losses that, in management’s estimation, is
considered adequate to provide for credit-related losses. The allowance for credit losses consists of
individual and collective allowances. The individual allowance is determined on the basis of specific
loans that, in management’s opinion, may not be fully collectible. The individual allowance is the
amount required to reduce the carrying value of an impaired loan to its present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. If a loan has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment is the current effective interest
rate determined under the contract at the time the loan becomes impaired.
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, the portfolio is grouped on the basis of
similar credit risk characteristics. These characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash
flows and historical loss experience which is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect
the effects of current conditions. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which
no individual allowances are recorded are included in a collective assessment of impairment.

(6)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
The Credit Union adjusts its input to its collective allowance methodology on an ongoing basis, taking
into account factors such as historical loss experience and adjusting for current observable data that
did not impact the period which the historical loss experience was based on. Estimates of changes in
future cash flows for groups of assets reflect and are directionally consistent with changes in related
observable data from period to period (for example, bankruptcy, residential mortgage delinquency, or
other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses by the Credit Union and in their
magnitude).
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously
recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the
reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in loan impairment expense.
Loans that were past due and either subject to collective impairment assessment or are individually
significant and whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but are
treated as new loans. In subsequent years, if the loan becomes past due again, this will be disclosed
only if the loan is renegotiated.
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the
Credit Union to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. When a
loan is uncollectible, it is written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the
amount of the final loss has been determined.
Assets classified as available-for-sale
A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an AFS equity security below its cost is
considered objective evidence in determining whether the asset is impaired. An AFS debt instrument
may be identified as impaired due to circumstances which can include actual delinquency in
contractual payment of principal or interest and/or significant events which indicate there is doubt as
to the collectibility of the principal or contractual interest. For designated AFS assets, if any such
evidence exists, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the
consolidated statement of income, is reclassified from equity and recognized in the consolidated
statement of income.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as AFS increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in
the consolidated statement of income, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated
statement of income. Impairment losses recognized in the consolidated statement of income on equity
instruments are not reversed.

(7)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
Assets classified as held-to-maturity
A HTM debt instrument may be identified as impaired due to circumstances which can include actual
delinquency in contractual payment of principal or interest and/or significant events which indicate
there is doubt as to the collectibility of the principal or contractual interest. In the case of an
impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the investment
and recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
e)

Property held for resale
In certain circumstances, the Credit Union may take possession of property held as collateral as a result of
foreclosure on loans that are in default. Foreclosed properties are classified as assets held for sale and are
measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the fair value less costs to sell.
The Credit Union does not, as a rule, occupy repossessed properties for its business use. These assets are
normally sold in a manner that maximizes the benefit to the Credit Union, the member and the member’s
other creditors, and may involve the use of realtors.
The Credit Union does not hold any properties that were acquired as a result of loan default. Property held
for resale by the Credit Union, acquired previously for potential future development, was sold during the
year ended December 31, 2011.

f)

Derivatives and hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose value changes in response to a change in a
specified interest rate, exchange rate or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that
the variable is not specific to a party to the contract. Derivative contracts usually have no initial net
investment or a net investment which would be smaller than a non-derivative contract and are settled at a
future date.
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into. They are
subsequently re-measured at their fair value and reported as assets where they have a positive fair value or
as liabilities where they have a negative fair value.
Derivatives may also be embedded in other financial instruments and are treated as separate derivatives
when:
i)

their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract;

ii)

a separate instrument with the same terms would meet the definition of a derivative instrument; and

iii) the host contract is not designated as FVTPL or classified as FVTPL. Changes in fair value on
derivative financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting are recognized in interest income
or expense as appropriate in the consolidated statement of income.

(8)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
The Credit Union designates derivatives as either hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable
to a recognized asset or liability, or a forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge), or FVTPL derivatives in
instances where the derivative does not qualify or has not been designated as a hedge in a hedge
accounting relationship. The Credit Union periodically uses derivatives for economic hedging purposes to
mitigate an identified financial instrument risk.
g)

Cash flow hedges
The Credit Union uses hedge accounting for derivatives designated as cash flow hedges provided certain
criteria are met. The Credit Union documents the relationship, at its inception, between hedged items and
hedging instruments, as well as identifying the risk being hedged and its risk management objective and
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Credit Union also documents its assessment, both
at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of a derivative that is designated and qualifies as a cash
flow hedge is recognized in the consolidated statement of changes in members’ equity. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of income.
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the consolidated statement of income in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, hedge accounting ceases and any cumulative gain or loss
existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the hedged forecast transaction is
ultimately recognized in the consolidated statement of income. However, when a forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, or when the hedged item expires or is sold, the cumulative gain or loss that was
deferred in equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated statement of income.

h)

Derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these assets
have ceased to exist or the assets have been transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets are also transferred. If the Credit Union has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the transferred financial asset, it assesses whether it has retained
control over the transferred asset. If control has been retained, the Credit Union continues to recognize the
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. If control has not been retained, the Credit
Union derecognizes the transferred asset.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.

(9)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
The Credit Union, through securitizations, periodically transfers loans to independent third parties. For
securitization transactions initiated after the date of transition to IFRS (January 1, 2010), where the Credit
Union’s securitizations and other transfers of receivables do not result in a transfer of contractual cash
flows of the receivables or an assumption of an obligation to pay the cash flows of the receivable to a
transferee, the Credit Union has not derecognized the transferred receivables and has instead recorded a
secured borrowing with respect to any consideration received.
For securitization transactions initiated prior to the date of transition to IFRS, the Credit Union continues
to derecognize assets based on the optional election under IFRS 1, First time adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards. The Credit Union accounts for gains or losses in the consolidated
statement of income. The amount of the gain or loss is based on the carrying value of the loans transferred,
allocated between the loans sold and retained interests based on their relative fair values at the date of
transfer. As market prices are not available for such asset sales, the Credit Union estimates fair value based
on the present value of expected future cash flows. Fair values are determined by making the maximum
use of market-based inputs and taking into consideration discount rates, forward yield curves and loan
specific factors such as expected credit losses and rates of prepayments. The Credit Union also calculates
an estimated servicing liability for the ongoing administration of securitized loans, where ongoing
administrative services are provided to the independent third parties. The deferred servicing liability is
recorded as an accrued expense and amortized to the consolidated statement of income over the estimated
rate of loan prepayments.
The retained interest is amortized over the estimated remaining life of the underlying loans sold. Changes
in estimated future cash flows are re-estimated at each year-end and discounted to the estimated present
value using the original effective interest rate, with any adjustments recognized as increases or decreases
to interest income.
i)

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts with the same
counterparty and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

j)

Interest income and expenses
Interest income or expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments is recognized within interest
income or interest expense in the consolidated statement of income using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period)
to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the
Credit Union estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but
does not consider future credit losses.
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(expressed in thousands of dollars)
The calculation of the effective interest method includes all fees and costs paid or received between parties
to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability. Once a
financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment
loss, interest income is recognized using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
Interest income and expenses presented in the consolidated statement of income include:
i)

interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, calculated on an
effective interest basis;

ii)

interest on AFS investment securities calculated on an effective interest basis;

iii) the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow
hedges of variability in interest cash flows, in the same period that the hedged cash flows affect
interest income/expense;

k)

iv)

fair value changes in qualifying derivatives, including hedge ineffectiveness; and

v)

gains or losses on economic hedges.

Fee and commission income
The accounting treatment for loan fees varies depending on the transaction. Fees that are considered to be
adjustments to loan yield are recognized using the effective interest method. The effective interest method
capitalizes fees and transaction costs on the consolidated statement of financial position and amortizes
them to interest income over the expected life of the related loan. Mortgage prepayment fees are
recognized in interest income when received, unless they relate to a minor modification to the terms of the
mortgage, in which case the fees are recognized over the expected remaining term of the original mortgage
using the effective interest method. Loan origination, restructuring and renegotiation fees for commercial
loans are recorded as interest income over the expected term of the loan using the effective interest
method. Commitment fees are recorded in interest income over the expected term of the loan, unless the
loan commitment is not expected to be used in which case it is recorded to other income. Loan discharge
and administration fees are recorded directly to other income when the loan transaction is complete.
Loan fees that are recognized using the effective interest method are included with loan balances in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
Service charges and foreign exchange transaction fees are recognized on an accrual basis when the service
is performed.
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Commission income is earned on the sale of insurance policies and is recognized as at the related
insurance policy’s effective date. The Credit Union may receive additional commissions from insurance
companies, which are recorded at the earlier of the period in which amounts can be reliably measured or
the period in which the amounts are received. The Credit Union maintains an allowance, if required, for
estimated policy cancellations and commission returns based upon the application of historical policy
cancellation and commission return rates.
Investment management fees, mutual fund fees and financial planning fees are recorded at the date of sale
on an accrual basis.
l)

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortization and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

m) Property, premises and equipment
i)

Recognition and measurement
All premises and equipment used by the Credit Union are measured at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

ii)

Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditures are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognized as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Credit Union and the cost of the item can be reliably measured.
All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to the statement of income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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(expressed in thousands of dollars)
iii) Depreciation
Land is carried at cost and is not depreciated. Asset classes are further categorized for depreciation
where significant differences in the estimated useful life of the various components of individually
significant assets are identified. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment
Office furniture
Equipment

3 to 10 years
3 to 10 years
3 to 7 years
3 to 7 years

The residual values and useful lives of premises and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each consolidated statement of financial position date. Assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These
are included in the consolidated statement of income.
n)

Intangibles
i)

Computer software
Computer software is capitalized when the future economic benefit is expected to exceed a period of
one year. Otherwise, software costs are expensed when incurred. Capitalized software costs are
initially recognized at cost and amortized using the straight-line method over the expected useful life.
The expected useful life ranges from 3 to 10 years.

ii)

Goodwill
The Credit Union elected to apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, prospectively for business
combinations that occurred prior to the Transition Date. Goodwill arose on the acquisition of various
insurance brokerage businesses and represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair
value of the share of the identifiable assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed, at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangibles.
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Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash generating units or groups of cash generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination from which the goodwill arose. Goodwill is tested annually, as well as
whenever a trigger event has been observed, for impairment by comparing the present value of the
expected future cash flows from a cash generating unit with the carrying value of its net assets,
including attributable goodwill, and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment
losses on goodwill are not reversed.
o)

Leased assets
In accordance with International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 17, Leases, the economic ownership of a
leased asset is transferred to the lessee if the lessee bears substantially all the risks and rewards related to
the ownership of the leased asset. In some cases, the lease transaction is not always conclusive, and
management uses judgment in determining whether the lease is a finance lease arrangement that transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. If this determination is positive, the related
asset is then recognized by the lessee at the inception of the lease at an amount equal to the lower of its fair
value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. A corresponding amount is recognized as a
finance lease liability.
All of the Credit Union’s lease agreements are classified as operating leases. Payments on operating lease
agreements are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs such
as maintenance and insurance are expensed as incurred.

p)

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Current and deferred taxes are recognized in
the consolidated statement of income except to the extent that they relate to items recognized directly in
members’ equity or in other comprehensive income.
i)

Current income tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

ii)

Deferred income tax
Deferred tax is recognized with respect to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax liabilities against current tax assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
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A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which
they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
q)

Employee benefits
The Credit Union operates various pension plans. The plans are generally funded through contributions to
trustee-administered funds determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Credit Union has both
defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
i)

Defined benefit pension plans
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee
will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and
compensation.
The liability recognized in the Credit Union’s consolidated statement of financial position in respect of
its defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the date of
the consolidated statement of financial position less the fair value of plan assets, together with
adjustments for past service costs. The fair value of plan assets recognized is limited to the amount
from which the Credit Union can derive a future economic benefit. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in
which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the
related pension liability.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income and are not recycled to the consolidated
statement of income. Past-service costs are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of
income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service
for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

ii)

Post-employment health care benefits
The Credit Union operates a post-employment health care benefit plan. The method of accounting,
assumptions and the frequency of valuations are similar to those used for defined benefit pension
plans.
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iii) Defined contribution pension plans
For defined contribution plans, the Credit Union pays a specified flat rate for employer contributions.
The Credit Union has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognized as an employee benefit expense on an accrual basis in the periods during
which services are rendered by employees.
iv)

Participation in multi-employer pension plan
The Credit Union provides defined retirement benefits to certain employees through a multiemployer plan administered by Central 1. Each member credit union is exposed to the actuarial risks
of the other employers with the result that, in the Credit Union’s opinion, there is no reasonable way
to allocate any defined benefit obligations. The Plan has informed the Credit Union that it is not able
to provide defined benefit information on a discrete employer basis as the investment records are not
tracked by individual employer and each employer is exposed to the actuarial risks of the Plan as a
whole. Accordingly, the Credit Union’s participation in the Plan is accounted for as a defined
contribution plan with contributions recorded on an accrual basis. The Credit Union has provided
additional disclosure on the overall funding status of the multi-employer plan and future contribution
levels in note 14(f).

r)

Related parties
A related party is a person or an entity that is related to the Credit Union.
i)

ii)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Credit Union if that person:
1)

has control or joint control over the Credit Union, with the power to govern the Credit Union’s
financial and operating policies;

2)

has significant influence over the Credit Union, participating in financial or operating policy
decisions, but not control over these policies; or

3)

is a member of the key management personnel of the Credit Union. Key management personnel,
consistent with the definition under IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, are persons having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Credit
Union, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the
Credit Union.

An entity is related to the Credit Union if any of the following conditions apply:
1)

The entity and the Credit Union are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

2)

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).
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s)

3)

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

4)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

5)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Credit
Union or an entity related to the Credit Union.

6)

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i) above.

7)

A person identified in (i)(1) above has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Credit Union has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Credit
Union from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract.
The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract
and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Credit
Union recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with the contract.

t)

Equity and non-equity shares
Upon opening an account at the Credit Union, new members are required to purchase a minimum of
25 Class A Membership equity shares (junior members - five shares). Class A Membership equity shares
are redeemable on demand by the member. Periodically, members may purchase Class F, G, H or I
Preferred shares, as authorized by the Board, which are redeemable at the end of the time periods stated
for that particular class of share. Accordingly, these classes of shares are recorded as member deposits.
Class A Membership, Class C Investment, Class D Insured, Class E Equity, and Preferred shares of the
Credit Union are not subject to guarantee by the Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation of British
Columbia (“CUDIC”). No Class H or I Preferred shares are issued. Dividends may be declared annually on
Class A Membership, Class C Investment, Class E Equity and Preferred shares at the discretion of the
Board.
Members, periodically, as authorized by the Board, are permitted to purchase Class C Investment and
Class E Equity shares. Redemption of Class C Investment and Class E Equity shares is subject to certain
conditions and approval of the Board. Accordingly, they are recorded as members’ equity.
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u)

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
At December 31, 2012, a number of standards and interpretations, and amendments thereto, had been
issued by the IASB, which are not effective for these consolidated financial statements. Those which are
expected to have an effect on the Credit Union’s consolidated financial statements are discussed below.
i)

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, (“IFRS 9”) which introduced new
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. In October 2010, the IASB
issued additions to IFRS 9 relating to financial liabilities. Together, these changes represent the first
phase in the IASB’s planned replacement of IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, (“IAS 39”) with a less complex and improved standard for financial instruments.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, but the IASB is
delaying the mandatory application until January 1, 2015. The main changes to the requirements of
IAS 39 are summarized below:
All financial assets that are currently in the scope of IAS 39 will be classified at either amortized cost
or fair value. The AFS, HTM and loans and receivables categories will no longer exist. Classification of
financial assets is based on an entity’s business model for managing its financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. Reclassifications between the two categories
are prohibited unless there is a change in the entity’s business model.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if two criteria are met:
1)

the objective of the business model is to hold the financial asset for the collection of contractual
cash flows; and

2)

the contractual cash flows of the instrument are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding.

All other financial assets are measured at fair value. Movements in the fair value of financial assets
classified at fair value are recognized in profit or loss, except for equity investments where an entity
takes the option to designate an equity instrument that is not held for trading at fair value through
other comprehensive income. If this option is taken, all subsequent changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income with no recycling of gains or losses to the consolidated
statement of income. Dividend income would continue to be recognized in the consolidated statement
of income.
An entity is only permitted to designate a financial asset otherwise meeting the amortized cost criteria
at FVTPL if doing so significantly reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch. This designation is
made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.

(18)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
Financial assets which contain embedded derivatives are to be classified in their entirety either at fair
value or amortized cost depending on whether the contracts as a whole meet the relevant criteria
under IFRS 9.
Most of IAS 39’s requirements for financial liabilities are retained, including amortized cost
accounting for most financial liabilities. The guidance on separation of embedded derivatives will
continue to apply to host contracts that are financial liabilities. However, fair value changes
attributable to changes in credit risk for financial liabilities designated under the fair value option,
other than loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, are to be presented in the statement
of other comprehensive income unless the treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. These amounts are not subsequently reclassified to the statement of income but may
be transferred within members’ equity.
The second and third phases in IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 will address the impairment of
financial assets measured at amortized cost and hedge accounting. In addition, the IASB is working
with the US Financial Accounting Standards Board to reduce inconsistencies between US GAAP and
IFRS in accounting for financial instruments. The impact of IFRS 9 may change as a consequence of
further developments resulting from the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. As a result, it is
impracticable to quantify the impact of IFRS 9 as at the date of publication of these consolidated
financial statements.
ii)

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, (“IFRS 13”) was issued on May 12, 2011. IFRS 13 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and sets out disclosure requirements for fair
value measurements. IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value when it is required by other IFRS’. It
does not introduce new fair value measurements, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to
fair value measurements that currently exist in certain standards. Prior to the introduction of IFRS 13,
there was no single source of guidance on fair value measurement and inconsistencies in guidance
added to the complexity of financial reporting.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. IFRS 13 is required
to be applied prospectively.
Fair value is measured as an exit price, with measurement considering characteristics of the asset or
liability and not entity-specific characteristics, as well as assuming a transaction takes place in the
entity's principal (or most advantageous) market between market participants. Price is not adjusted
for transaction costs, and measurement maximizes the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizes the use of unobservable inputs.
Measurement of non-financial assets is based on highest and best use of the asset. Measurement of
net exposures for financial assets and liabilities with offsetting risks is allowed in limited
circumstances.
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Where liabilities and an entity's own equity instruments are recorded at fair value, quoted prices are
used if available; if not, then quoted prices for an identical item held as an asset are used before
resorting to other valuation techniques.
Fair value hierarchy disclosures are extended to non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value. There is also a requirement to disclose the effect on profit or loss for recurring fair value
measurements categorized within Level 3, as well as information about fair value to be disclosed for
items not measured at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed. Management is currently
assessing the impact this standard will have on the Credit Union's financial statements.
iii) IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, effective January 1, 2013, establishes disclosure
requirements for interests in other entities, such as subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates, and
unconsolidated structured entities. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also
introduces significant additional disclosure that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an
entity’s interests in other entities. The adoption of this standard may expand the Credit Union’s
disclosures in its consolidated financial statements regarding its interests in its wholly owned
subsidiaries.
iv)

IAS 19, Employee Benefits
IAS 19, Employee Benefits, effective January 1, 2013, has been amended to make significant changes
to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense and termination benefits and
to enhance the disclosure of all employee benefits. The amended standard requires immediate
recognition of actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income as they arise, without
subsequent recycling to net income. This is consistent with the Credit Union’s current accounting
policy. Past service cost (which will now include curtailment gains and losses) will no longer be
recognized over a service period but instead will be recognized immediately in the period of a plan
amendment. Pension benefit cost will be split between:
(1) the cost of benefits accrued in the current period (service cost) and benefit changes (past-service
cost, settlements and curtailments); and
(2) finance expense or income. The finance expense or income component will be calculated based
on the net defined benefit asset or liability.
A number of other amendments have been made to recognition, measurement and classification
including redefining short-term and other long-term benefits, guidance on the treatment taxes related
to benefit plans, guidance on risk/cost sharing features, and expanded disclosures. The adoption of
this standard will result in changes to the Credit Union’s pension and other retirement benefits note
disclosure.
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v)

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, has been amended to require entities to separate items
presented in other comprehensive income into two groups, based on whether or not items may be
recycled in the future. Entities that choose to present other comprehensive income items before tax
will be required to show the amount of tax related to the two groups separately. The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012 with earlier application permitted. The
adoption of this standard may result in changes to the Credit Union’s disclosure of other
comprehensive income.

vi)

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, has been amended to enhance disclosure requirements
related to offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendment does not change the
current offsetting model in IAS 32 which only allows for the right of offset when the entity has a
legally enforceable right of set-off and intends to either settle the asset and liability on a net basis or to
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. These new disclosures are intended to
facilitate comparison between those entities that prepare IFRS financial statements to those that
prepare financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and must be applied retrospectively. The adoption of
this standard will result in additional disclosures to the Credit Union's financial statements.

vii) IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements is a new standard that will replace the guidance on
control and consolidation in IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and SIC-12,
Consolidation Special Purpose entities. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control so the same criteria
are applied to all entities to determine control. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2013 with earlier application permitted. The adoption of this standard is not
expected to result in a change to the Credit Union's financial statements.
viii) IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation
IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, has been amended to clarify requirements for offsetting
of financial assets and financial liabilities on the statement of financial position. The amendments do
not change the current offsetting model in IAS 32 which only allows for the right of offset when the
entity has a legally enforceable right of set-off and intends to either settle the asset and liability on a
net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. These new disclosures are
intended to facilitate comparison between those entities that prepare IFRS financial statements to
those that prepare financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. The standard is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014 and must be applied retrospectively. The
adoption of this standard is not expected to result in a change to the Credit Union's financial
statements.
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4

Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Credit Union’s
accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the
period the assumptions changed. The principal areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity
and/or areas which require significant estimates are described below:
a)

Allowance for credit losses on loans to members
The Credit Union regularly reviews its loan portfolio for impairment. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated statement of income, the Credit Union makes
judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be
identified with that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an
adverse change in the payment status of members in a group. Management uses estimates based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment
similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions
used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed annually to reduce any
difference between loss estimates and actual loss experience. Were the net present value of estimated cash
flows to differ by +/-1%, the impairment loss is estimated to be $94 (2011 - $111) higher or lower.

b)

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not
otherwise available are determined using specific valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair values are
estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments or by using models. Where
market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated based on appropriate assumptions. Where
valuation techniques are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by
management. To the extent practical, models use only market observable data; however, areas such as
credit risk (both the Credit Union’s credit risk and counterparty risk) and correlations require
management to make estimates.

c)

Securitizations and derecognition of transferred financial instruments
The Credit Union transfers residential mortgages to an independent third party either directly or through
an initial transfer to intermediary financial institutions that are eligible, authorized transferors approved
by the third party.
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Depending on the contractual arrangements, the Credit Union may not derecognize the securitized
residential mortgages and may instead recognize a secured borrowing; recognize only a portion of the
assets up to the Credit Union’s remaining involvement in those assets; or may derecognize the assets and
recognize, as separate assets or liabilities, any rights and obligations constituted or retained in the transfer.
In assessing the derecognition criteria, management is often required to make judgments as to the extent
to which cash flows are transferred and any continuing exposure to risks and rewards of the transferred
receivables. The Credit Union has disclosed the accounting treatment for securitization transactions during
the year in note 6.
d)

Retirement benefits
The present value of retirement benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on
an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the
carrying amount of pension obligations.
The assumptions used in determining the net cost for retirement benefit plans include the discount rate.
The Credit Union determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate
that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be
required to settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Credit Union
considers the interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which
the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension
liability. Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions.

e)

Income taxes
The Credit Union computes an effective tax rate which includes an evaluation of the small business rate
eligible to credit unions under the Canadian Income Tax Act. This small business rate applies until the tax
paid retained earnings reach five percent of amounts owing to members, including deposits and shares. An
estimate of deposit, share and income growth, based on the modeling of the Credit Union’s business plan,
inclusive of economic indicators, provides the basis in determining the small business rate.
This rate forms the effective tax rate used in computing the income tax provision. However, the actual
amounts of income tax expense do not become final until the filing and acceptance of the income tax
return by the relevant tax authorities, which occurs subsequent to the issuance of the consolidated
financial statements. To the extent that estimates differ from the final tax returns, income tax expense
would be affected in the subsequent year.
The Credit Union periodically assesses its liabilities and contingencies related to income taxes for all years
open to audit based on the latest information available. For matters where it is probable that an
adjustment will be made, the Credit Union records its best estimate of the tax liability including the related
interest and penalties in the current tax provision.
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5

Loans to members
2012
$

2011
$

Retail
Residential mortgages (note 6)
Personal loans

1,245,643
294,343

1,120,302
294,155

Commercial mortgages and loans

565,640

517,259

Net deferred transaction fees and related costs

2,864

1,290

Accrued interest

3,823

3,843

Less: Allowance for credit losses

Current
Non-current

2,112,313
(5,564)

1,936,849
(5,717)

2,106,749

1,931,132

837,528
1,269,221

857,889
1,073,243

Reconciliation of allowance for credit losses

Balance - Beginning of year
Loan write-offs
Increase in impairment allowance

2012

2011

Residential
mortgages
and personal
loans
$

Commercial
mortgages
and loans
$

Total
$

Total
$

3,231

2,486

5,717

6,558

(1,653)
1,500

(2,841)
2,000

(1,067)
1,213

(586)
287

Balance - End of year

3,377

2,187

5,564

5,717

Individual allowance
Collective allowance

664
2,713

1,475
712

2,139
3,425

2,362
3,355

Total allowance for credit losses

3,377

2,187

5,564

5,717
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Loans to members individually impaired
A loan is considered impaired when a counterparty has not made a payment by the contractual due date and an
individual allowance for credit has been established. The following table presents the carrying value of loans
that are individually impaired:
2012
$

2011
$

Retail
Residential mortgages
Personal loan

1,520
341

1,697
392

Commercial mortgages and loans

2,351

2,636

4,212

4,725

Loans past due but not impaired
A loan is considered past due when a counterparty has not made a payment by the contractual due date. The
following table presents the carrying value of loans that are past due but not classified as impaired because they
are either:
(i)

less than 90 days past due and there is no information that an impairment event has occurred; or

(ii) fully secured and collection efforts are reasonably expected to result in repayment.
Loans that are past due but not impaired are as follows:

Retail
Residential mortgages
Personal loans
Commercial mortgages and loans

2012

2011

1-29
days
$

30-89
days
$

90 days
and
greater
$

Total
$

Total
$

20,558
790

2,909
894

1,944
-

25,411
1,684

31,449
2,382

2,310

1,429

82

3,821

5,677

23,658

5,232

2,026

30,916

39,508

The fair value of the collateral held by the Credit Union as security for impaired and past due loans was $77,452
(2011 - $79,838). The Credit Union has estimated the fair value of collateral based on an updated assessment of
the security appraisals undertaken at the original funding assessment or management’s knowledge of the fair
value of security.
The principal collateral and other credit enhancements the Credit Union holds as security for loans include:
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(i)

insurance and mortgages over residential lots and properties;

(ii) recourse to business assets such as real estate, equipment, inventory and accounts receivable;
(iii) recourse to the commercial real estate properties being financed; and
(iv) recourse to liquid assets, guarantees and securities.
Valuations of collateral are updated periodically depending on the nature of the collateral. The Credit Union has
policies in place to monitor the existence of undesirable concentration in the collateral supporting its credit
exposure.

6

Loan securitizations and other transfers
Transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety
The Credit Union securitizes insured residential mortgages by participating in the National Housing Authority
("NHA") CMB and MBS programs. Through the programs, the Credit Union issues securities backed by
residential mortgages that are insured against borrower's default. Once the mortgages are securitized, the
Credit Union assigns underlying mortgages and/or related securities to CMHC.
During the year, the Credit Union entered into transfer agreements which were reviewed in order to determine
whether the transfers of financial assets should result in all or a portion of the transferred mortgages being
derecognized from its consolidated statement of financial position. The derecognition requirements include an
assessment of whether the Credit Union’s rights to contractual cash flows have expired or have been transferred
or whether an obligation has been undertaken by the Credit Union to pay the cash flows collected on the
underlying transferred assets over to a third party. The derecognition standards also include an assessment of
whether substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.
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The Credit Union has determined that an amount of $60,908 (2011 - $20,824) raised from securitization
transactions during the year should be accounted for as a secured borrowing as the Credit Union did not
transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership, principally because it did not transfer
prepayment, interest and credit risk of the mortgages in the securitization. At December 31, 2012, the Credit
Union had $73,365 (2011 - $18,721) of residential mortgages which had been securitized and included on the
balance sheet as the securitization transaction did not meet the requirements for derecognition. The total
carrying amount of the original loans securitized as at December 31, 2012 was $81,732 (2011 - $20,824). These
loans are held as security for the secured borrowing (note 11). As a result of the transactions, the Credit Union
receives the net differential between the monthly interest receipts of the mortgages and the interest expense on
the borrowings. The exposure to variability of future interest income and expense has been incorporated into
the Credit Union’s interest rate sensitivity calculations in note 21.
Loans and receivables
2012

Carrying amount of assets
Carrying amount of associated liabilities
For those liabilities that have recourse only to the
transferred assets:
Fair value of assets
Fair value of associated liabilities
Fair value of associated derivatives
Net position

2011

79,544
(79,544)

20,824
(20,824)

80,000
(80,811)
608

20,698
(21,924)
726

(203)

(500)

Transferred financial assets that are derecognized
For securitization transactions initiated prior to transition to IFRS, the Credit Union entered into an agreement
with Central 1 to sell Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (“CMHC”) insured mortgages for participation
in the Canada Mortgage Bond Program, which are used by Central 1 to create mortgage-backed securities sold
to Canada Mortgage Housing Trust, an independent special purpose entity.
The Credit Union’s retained interests in securitized loans consist of a right to receive future cash flows arising
after the investors in the special purpose entity have received the return for which they contracted and from
credit enhancement provided to the special purpose entity in the form of cash collateral accounts. The investors
and special purpose entities, as holders of the securitized mortgages, have recourse only to a cash collateral
account, the mortgages securitized and cash flows from the securitized mortgages. The investors and the third
parties have no recourse to the Credit Union’s other assets for failure of debtors to pay when due. The Credit
Union’s retained interests are subject to credit, prepayment and interest rate risks on the securitized mortgages.
The fair value of retained interests amounted to $152 (note 9) at December 31, 2012 (2011 - $572). The carrying
value of recognized servicing liabilities amounted to $30 at December 31, 2012 (2011 - $99).

(27)

Prospera Credit Union
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012
(expressed in thousands of dollars)
As part of these securitizations of mortgages receivable, the Credit Union retained servicing responsibilities.
Servicing liabilities amortized to income during the year amounted to $69 (2011 - $68) and retained interest
recognized to income during the year amounted to $36 (2011 - $260).
Undiscounted cash flows to repurchase transferred assets that are derecognized
2012
Maturity of continuing involvement
Total

Within
3 months

3-6 months

6 months 1 year

1-3 years

3-5 years

More than
5 years

11,936

176

4,795

6,965

-

-

-

Type of continuing
involvement
Securitized loans

2011
Maturity of continuing involvement
Total

Within
3 months

3-6 months

6 months 1 year

1-3 years

3-5 years

More than
5 years

19,650

-

-

1,839

17,811

-

-

Type of continuing
involvement
Securitized loans

7

Investments
(expressed in thousands of dollars except for number of shares and value per share)

Central 1 equity shares and accrued dividends
Government backed securities
Government backed securities - reinvestment account (note 11)
Other investments

Current portion
Non-current portion

2012
$

2011
$

7,660
3,296
4,438
788

7,727
3,935
2,077
963

16,182

14,702

82
16,100

1,738
12,964

Included in Central 1 equity shares and accrued dividends are 88,587 Class E Central 1 shares issued with a par
value of $0.01 each, redeemable at $100 each at the option of Central 1. There is no separately quoted market
value for these shares and the fair value cannot be reliably determined. The timing of redemption of these
shares cannot be determined, therefore, the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant and the
probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reasonably assessed. Therefore, they are recorded at cost.
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8

Property, premises and equipment
Office
equipment
$

9

Office
furniture
$

Leasehold
improvements
$

Land and
buildings
$

Automotive
equipment
$

Total
$

Cost
As at December 31, 2010
Additions
Disposals

11,683
1,517
(1,131)

1,723
132
(198)

9,779
1,427
(938)

90
-

32
-

23,307
3,076
(2,267)

As at December 31, 2011
Additions
Disposals

12,069
624
(1,321)

1,657
10
-

10,268
82
(167)

90
-

32
-

24,116
716
(1,488)

As at December 31, 2012

11,372

1,667

10,183

90

32

23,344

Depreciation and impairment
As at December 31, 2010
Disposals
Depreciation charge for the year

8,426
(1,003)
1,026

1,518
(167)
81

5,003
(626)
972

-

32
-

14,979
(1,796)
2,079

As at December 31, 2011
Disposals
Depreciation charge for the year

8,449
(1,310)
1,222

1,432
59

5,349
(164)
963

-

32
-

15,262
(1,474)
2,244

As at December 31, 2012

8,361

1,491

6,148

-

32

16,032

Carrying amounts
As at December 31, 2011
As at December 31, 2012

3,620
3,011

225
176

4,919
4,035

90
90

-

8,854
7,312

Other assets

Prepaid expenses
Accounts receivable
Retained interests in securitized loans (note 6)

Current portion
Non-current portion

2012
$

2011
$

2,139
1,189
152

2,356
1,163
572

3,480

4,091

2,172
1,308

2,321
1,770
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10 Intangibles
Goodwill
$

Software
$

Total
$

Cost
As at December 31, 2010
Additions
Disposals

839
(839)

7,445
2,268
(724)

8,284
2,268
(1,563)

As at December 31, 2011
Additions
Disposals

-

8,989
475
(315)

8,989
475
( 315)

As at December 31, 2012

-

9,149

9,149

Amortization
As at December 31, 2010
Disposals (note 1)
Amortization charge for the year

-

5,816
(724)
593

5,816
(724)
593

As at December 31, 2011
Disposals (note 1)
Amortization charge for the year

-

5,685
(315)
511

5,685
(315)
511

As at December 31, 2012

-

5,881

5,881

Carrying amounts
As at December 31, 2011
As at December 31, 2012

-

3,304
3,268

3,304
3,268

Remaining amortization of the carrying amounts as at December 31, 2012 is as follows:
$
Within 1 year
1 - 5 years
After 5 years

556
1,806
906
3,268

11 Borrowings

Lines of credit
Secured borrowings (note 6)
At amortized cost
At fair value

2012
$

2011
$

89,959

48,000

21,758
59,053

21,924

170,770

69,924
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Maturity date
Due in 2012
Due in 2013
Due in 2014
Due in 2016
Due in 2017

Current
Non-current

Weighted average
interest rate
%

2012
$

2011
$

1.589
1.530
1.500
2.550
1.700

89,959
21,758
30,434
28,619

48,000
21,924
-

170,770

69,924

89,959
80,811

48,000
21,924

As of December 31, 2012, the Credit Union has two approved lines of credit totalling $190,924 (2011 $190,100).
Security provided as collateral for the line of credit facilities is a general assignment of loans to members,
accounts receivable and a demand debenture in favour of Central 1.
The secured borrowings arise from securitization transactions and are secured by specific pools of loans to
members of $73,365 (2011 - $18,721) and $4,438 (2011 - $2,077) of government backed securities (notes 6
and 7).

12 Member deposits
2012
$
Term deposits
Demand deposits
Registered savings plans
Member deposit shares (note 13(b))
Deferred transaction costs
Accrued interest

Current
Non-current

2011
$

1,074,297
565,672
355,386
19,231
(259)
15,161

1,060,207
525,725
340,800
19,401
(384)
15,966

2,029,488

1,961,715

1,396,501
632,987

1,414,788
546,927

The Credit Union holds funds in segregated accounts for members investing in self-directed registered savings
plans and mutual funds. The value of publicly traded investments is determined using the quoted market
amounts at the year-end date. These funds are not included in the consolidated statement of financial position
at December 31, 2012 and amount to $460,781 (2011 - $414,912).
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13 Member deposit and members’ equity shares
a)

Authorized shares
(expressed in thousands of dollars except for value per share)
Unlimited number of shares with a par value and redemption value of $1 each:
Class A Membership voting equity shares
Class B Patronage voting equity shares
Class C Investment non-voting equity shares
Class D Non-equity shares
Unlimited Class E Equity voting, non-redeemable, non-cumulative shares with a par value of $1 each.
Unlimited Class F, G, H and I Preferred shares. Each class of Preferred share is issuable in Series
(Series 1, 2 or 3). Each Series of each class can be offered in three, five, seven or 10-year terms.
Each class of Preferred share is redeemable at the end of its term, is non-voting and is entitled to
cumulative dividends at a rate set when issued.

b)

Issued shares classified as member deposits (note 12) consist of the following:
(expressed in thousands of dollars except for number of shares)
2012
$

2011
$

4,496,733 (2011 - 4,680,401) Class A Membership Equity shares
46,935 (2011 - 49,305) Class D Non-equity shares
11,951,858 (2011 - 12,215,726) Class F, Series 1-3 and Class G,
Series 1, 3-to-10 year Preferred shares; the shares have
cumulative dividends of 5.07% to 7.00%
Accrued dividends on Preferred shares

4,497
47

4,680
49

11,952
2,761

12,216
2,497

Deferred transaction costs

19,257
(26)

19,442
(41)

19,231

19,401

2012
$

2011
$

Class A Membership equity shares issued in the year
Class A Membership equity shares redeemed in the year

237
(420)

257
(419)

Net redemptions in the year

(183)

(162)

The changes in Class D Non-equity shares and Class F and G Preferred shares relate to redemptions only
as no shares were issued during the year (2011 - nil).
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The Class F, Series 1, 2 and 3 and Class G, Series 1 Preferred shares are subject to redemption as follows:

2012
2013
2015
2016
Less: Accrued dividends

c)

2012
$

2011
$

11,260
1,383
2,070
(2,761)

325
11,034
1,380
1,974
(2,497)

11,952

12,216

2012
$

2011
$

4,522
242

4,741
242

4,764

4,983

Issued shares classified as members’ equity consist of the following:
(expressed in thousands of dollars except for number of shares)

4,521,621 (2011 - 4,740,720) Class C Investment equity shares
242,000 (2011 - 242,000) Class E Equity shares

The changes in Class C Investment equity shares and Class E Equity shares relate to redemptions only as
no shares were issued during the year (2011 - nil).

14 Pension and other retirement benefits
The Credit Union provides pension benefits to employees through defined contribution, defined benefit, and
supplemental retirement and multi-employer defined benefit plans. Other post-retirement benefits including
health care, dental benefits or cash alternatives are provided to eligible Credit Union employees upon or after
retirement.
The Credit Union funds the defined benefit plans and multi-employer defined benefit plans based on actuarially
prescribed amounts. The unfunded supplemental retirement and non-pension benefits are paid by the Credit
Union at the time of entitlement. Retirement benefits for the defined contribution plans are paid by the Credit
Union on a monthly basis. The unfunded portion of the defined benefit obligation is $3,708 (2011 - $3,705).
The accrued benefit obligation for the supplemental retirement plan is secured by an irrevocable letter of credit
issued by the Credit Union in the amount of $2,613 (2011 - $2,238).
The accrued benefit obligation and plan assets were actuarially measured for accounting purposes as of
December 31, 2012. The effective date of the last actuarial valuation report for funding purposes was
December 31, 2009 and the effective date of the next required actuarial valuation report will be December 31,
2012.
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a)

Retirement benefit asset (obligation)
Defined benefit plans
2012
$
Defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Unamortized past service costs

2011
$

2010
$

(23,116)
14,679
-

(19,650)
13,524
4

(16,627)
12,801
8

(8,437)

(6,122)

(3,818)

Net retirement obligation
Retirement benefit asset recognized on the
consolidated statement of financial position
Retirement benefit obligation recognized on the
consolidated statement of financial position

(8,437)

(6,122)

(3,981)

Net retirement obligation

(8,437)

(6,122)

(3,818)

Current portion
Non-current portion

(319)
(8,118)

(324)
(5,798)

(213)
(3,605)

-

-

163

The movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:
Defined benefit plans
2012
$

2011
$

2010
$

Defined benefit obligation at January 1
Current service cost (net of employee
contributions)
Interest costs
Actuarial losses
Benefit payments

19,650

16,627

14,186

Defined benefit obligation at December 31

23,116

700
1,032
2,657
(923)

695
959
2,216
(847)
19,650

567
940
1,459
(525)
16,627
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b)

Fair value of plan assets
i)

Movement in the fair value of plan assets is as follows:
Defined benefit plans
2012
$

ii)

Fair value of plan assets at January 1
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial (losses) gains
Variation of the effect of the limit of
paragraph 58(b)
Employer contributions
Benefit payments

13,524
928
163

Fair value of plan assets at December 31

14,679

987
(923)

2011
$
12,801
855
(268)

2010
$
10,784
747
644

983
(847)
13,524

231
920
(525)
12,801

Funded plan assets comprise the following:
Funded defined
benefit plans

Asset category
Equity securities
Debt instruments
Other assets

2012
%

2011
%

52
37
11

55
35
10

100

100

Investments are well diversified, such that the failure of any single investment would not have a
material impact on the overall level of assets. The largest proportion of assets is invested in equities,
although the Credit Union also invests in properties, bonds and cash.
The expected return on plan assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on the
assets underlying the current investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are
based on gross redemption yields as at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.
Expected returns on equity and property investments reflect long-term rates of return experienced in
the respective markets. The actual return on plan assets for the year ended December 31, 2012 was
$1,091 (2011 - $587).
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c)

The amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of income were as follows:
Defined benefit plans

Current service cost (net of employee contributions)
Interest costs
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of past service cost
Total included in employee benefits expense (note 17)
d)

2012
$

2011
$

700
1,032
(928)
4

695
959
(855)
4

808

803

The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:
Defined benefit plans

e)

2012
$

2011
$

Actuarial losses in the year
Income tax recovery

(2,494)
336

(2,484)
335

Other comprehensive loss related to defined benefit plans for
the year

(2,158)

(2,149)

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
Defined benefit plans

Discount rate
Inflation rate
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
Future salary increases
Health care cost
Extended health
MSP
Dental

2012
%

2011
%

4.48
2.00
6.31
3.00

5.23
2.00
6.66
3.00

8.00
4.00
3.00

7.00
6.00
3.00

For plans or portion of plans where indexing is used, future pension increase assumptions are based on
50% of the inflation rate.
The expected long-term rate of return on assets is determined based on long-term forecasted returns of the
major asset classes, weighted by the plans’ target asset allocation.
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Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with
published statistics and experience. Mortality assumptions are based on the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner
Mortality Table with projection for future mortality improvements for 20 years. The projection factors are
in accordance with the published table Scale AA where annual improvements range from 0.4% to 2% for
males and 0.3% to 1.8% for females.
The tables translate the average life expectancy of males to 20 years and females to 22 years for a
pensioner retiring at age 65.
The sensitivity to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is as follows:
Defined benefit plans

f)

2012
%

2011
%

Discount rate
Impact of: 1% increase
1% decrease

(3,645)
4,704

(2,953)
3,788

Future salary increases
Impact of: 1% increase
1% decrease

1,178
(1,037)

869
(767)

Medical/dental trends
Impact of : 1% increase
1% decrease

127
(110)

238
(200)

Participation in multi-employer plan (the “Plan”)
The Credit Union participates in a plan for certain eligible employees which is administered by Central 1.
An actuarial valuation of the overall Plan was carried out as at December 31, 2009. It was determined that
the overall Plan had an actuarial deficit of $34,145 using the projected unit credit method. As a result of
the valuation, the contribution rates were determined to be 8.9% per annum for employer contributions
based on the pensionable earnings of the respective participating employees and 2.5% to 9% per annum,
depending on the planholder’s age, for employee contributions for the period from January 1, 2010 to
December 31, 2012. The next actuarial valuation will be completed as of December 31, 2012. The new
valuation of the Plan is expected to show a solvency deficiency. As a result, it is expected that contribution
rates will be increased; the contributions will continue to be expensed as invoiced by the Plan.
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g)

Future contributions and benefit payments
The expected contributions and benefits payments for the year ending December 31, 2013 are as follows:
$
Employer contributions
Employee benefits

1,048
(935)

15 Net interest income

Interest income
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest bearing deposits with financial institutions
Financial assets
Cash flow hedges
Fair value through profit or loss
Held to maturity investments
Loans to members
Interest expense
Deposits
Borrowings
Lines of credit
Secured borrowings

Net interest income

2012
$

2011
$

28
3,846

36
5,150

1,588
158
109
82,353

1,861
260
(2)
81,958

88,082

89,263

35,451

34,708

885
846

1,098
1,195

37,182

37,001

50,900

52,262

2012
$

2011
$

5,106
3,309
1,409
849
823
94

6,492
5,408
3,083
3,013
868
884
124

11,590

19,872

16 Other income

Gain on sale of general insurance assets
Service charges
Investment management
Insurance commissions
Loan fees
Foreign exchange
Other

On April 30, 2011, the Credit Union’s wholly owned subsidiary, Prospera Insurance Agencies Ltd., sold all
assets related to its general insurance operations and recorded a gain on sale of assets of $6,492.
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17 Salaries and employee benefits

Salaries
Benefits
Other
Post-employment defined benefit plans
Pension costs
Defined contribution plans
Defined benefit plans

2012
$

2011
$

23,894

24,025

2,608
98

2,550
92

1,360
710

1,335
711

28,670

28,713

2012
$

2011
$

1,168
752
746
376
14

1,492
801
843
370
294

3,056

3,800

2012
$

2011
$

597
155

2,317
80

752

2,397

18 Other expenses

Deposit insurance fees
Other
Professional services
Central 1 dues
Loss on sale of property, premises and equipment

19 Income taxes

Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using an effective tax rate.
The income tax expense differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the combined federal and
provincial statutory income tax rates of 25% (2011 - 26.5%) to income before income taxes. The reasons for the
differences are as follows:

Computed tax expense
(Decrease) increase resulting from
Preferred rate amount deduction for credit unions
Non-taxable items
Effect of tax rate changes and changes in income tax asset
Other

2012
$

2011
$

2,198

4,452

(1,044)
16
193
(611)

(2,088)
(963)
903
93

752

2,397

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 8.6% (2011 - 14.3%). The decrease was a result of adjustments to
the prior year tax return and provision adjustments due to more accurate information available at the time of
filing the return.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities analysis are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets
To be recovered within 12 months
To be recovered after more than 12 months

Deferred income tax liabilities
To be settled within 12 months
To be settled after more than 12 months

Net deferred income tax assets

2012
$

2011
$

(30)
2,213

252
1,555

2,183

1,807

284
426

213
348

710

561

1,473

1,246
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The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities are:

Deferred income tax assets
Provision for credit losses
Deferred revenue
Retirement benefit obligation
and severance accruals
Property, premises, equipment
and software intangibles differences between
carrying amounts and
undepreciated capital cost
Loss carry-forwards

Deferred income tax liabilities
Prepaid loan expenses
Retained interest in
securitizations
Goodwill
Other

Net deferred income tax assets

December 31,
2011
$

Recognized
in profit
or loss
$

Recognized
in other
comprehensive
income
$

December 31,
2012
$

485
121

7
14

-

492
135

863

(55)

336

1,144

293
45

61
13

-

354
58

1,807

40

336

2,183

330

220

-

550

(113)
344

18
(43)

(46)

(95)
255

561

195

(46)

710

(155)

382

1,473

1,246
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December 31,
2010
$

Recognized
in profit
or loss
$

Recognized
in other
comprehensive
income
$

December 31,
2011
$

642
145

(157)
(24)

-

485
121

578

(50)

335

863

198
47

95
(2)

-

293
45

1,610

(138)

335

1,807

171

159

-

330

43
93
137

(154)
(93)
30

(2)
177

(113)
344

444

(58)

175

561

1,166

(80)

160

1,246

Deferred income tax assets
Provision for credit losses
Deferred revenue
Retirement benefit obligation
and severance accruals
Property, premises, equipment
and software intangibles differences between
carrying amounts and
undepreciated capital cost
Loss carry-forwards
Deferred income tax liabilities
Prepaid loan expenses
Retained interest in
securitizations
Goodwill
Other
Net deferred income tax assets

20 Commitments and contingent liabilities
Commitments
Leases
Most of the Credit Union’s premises are leased for varying terms. Lease payments included in occupancy
expense amounted to $5,361 (2011 - $5,103). Current minimum annual payments are approximately $5,629
(2011 - $4,948) for each of the next five years and $18,272 (2011 - $21,136) in aggregate thereafter.
Letters of credit and other guarantees
In the normal course of business, the Credit Union has outstanding letters of credit issued on behalf of
members totalling $9,847 (2011 - $8,958), which are secured by member term deposits or property mortgages.
Undrawn loan commitment to members
Refer to note 21.
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Contingent liabilities
In the course of its business, various claims and legal proceedings may arise against the Credit Union. The
Credit Union defends itself where appropriate and is currently of the opinion that it is likely to prevail;
accordingly, no provision has been made in these financial statements.

21 Risk management
The Credit Union’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyze risks, to set appropriate risk
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date
information systems. The Credit Union follows an enterprise risk management framework, which involves
identifying particular events or circumstances relevant to its objectives, assessing them in terms of probability
and magnitude, determining a response strategy and monitoring progress. The Credit Union regularly reviews
its risk management policies and systems to take account of changes in markets, products and emerging best
practice.
Risk management is carried out by a number of delegated committees reporting to the Board. The Board
provides written principles for risk tolerance and overall risk management, and management reports to the
Board on compliance with the risk management policies of the Credit Union. In addition, the Credit Union
maintains an internal audit function, which is responsible for independent review of risk management and the
Credit Union’s control environment.
Financial instruments comprise the majority of the Credit Union’s assets and liabilities. The Credit Union
accepts deposits from members at both fixed and floating rates for various periods and seeks to earn an interest
rate margin by investing these funds in high quality financial instruments - principally mortgages. The primary
types of financial risk that arise from this activity are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign
exchange risk and price risk.
The following table describes the significant financial instrument activity undertaken by the Credit Union, the
risks associated with such activities and the method used in managing those risks:
Activity

Risk

Method

Fixed rate savings products and
funding activities involving fixed
rate instruments

Sensitivity to changes in interest
rates

Asset-liability matching and
periodic use of derivatives

Fixed rate mortgages

Sensitivity to changes in interest
rates

Asset-liability matching and
periodic use of derivatives

Index-linked deposit products

Sensitivity to changes in
Canadian equity indices

Options

Foreign currencies

Sensitivity to changes in foreign
currency

Asset-liability matching and
investment limits
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss occurring due to a Credit Union member’s or counterparty’s inability or
refusal to fully honour the contractual obligations of a financial instrument. This risk results from being a party
to a financial instrument with a counterparty. Allowances for credit losses are made for losses that have been
incurred at the statement of financial position date. Significant changes in the economy of British Columbia,
specifically the Greater Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Okanagan areas, or deteriorations in lending sectors that
represent a concentration within the Credit Union’s loan portfolio may result in losses that are different from
those provided for at the statement of financial position date.
The classes of financial instruments to which the Credit Union is most exposed are loans to members, cash
resources and derivatives. The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of financial
instruments including undrawn commitments of $290,858 (2011 - $264,734):

Credit risk exposure
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest bearing deposits with financial institutions

Outstanding
$

Undrawn
commitments
$

2012

2011

Total
exposure
$

Total
exposure
$

19,250

-

19,250

29,078

154,484

-

154,484

147,229

Residential
Mortgages
Loans
Line of credit and overdraft

1,245,643
92,141
202,202

27,823
257
182,312

1,273,466
92,398
384,514

1,136,649
87,215
386,289

Commercial
Mortgages
Loans
Line of credit and overdraft

461,756
66,023
37,861

32,750
537
47,179

494,506
66,560
85,040

453,018
47,539
85,740

Accrued interest on loans

3,823

-

3,823

3,843

Derivatives

3,134

-

3,134

3,691

152

-

152

572

1,189

-

1,189

1,163

619

-

619

-

2,288,277

290,858

2,579,135

Retained interest in securitized loans
Accounts receivable
Income taxes receivable
Total exposure

2,382,026

Management of credit risk is an integral part of the Credit Union’s activities. Management carefully monitors
and manages the Credit Union’s exposure to credit risk by a combination of methods. Credit risk arises
principally from lending activities that result in member loans and advances and treasury activities that result
in investments in cash resources. There is also credit risk in unfunded loan commitments. The overall
management of credit risk is centralized in the Investment and Lending Committee, which reports to the Board,
and the respective operating units of the Credit Union.
Concentration of loans is managed by the implementation of sectoral and member specific limits as well as the
periodic use of syndications with other financial institutions to limit the potential exposure to any one member.
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The Investment and Lending Committee is responsible for approving and monitoring the Credit Union’s
tolerance for credit exposures, which it does through review and approval of the Credit Union’s lending policies
and through setting limits on credit exposures to individual members and across sectors. The Credit Union
maintains levels of borrowing approval limits, and prior to advancing funds to a member, an assessment of the
credit quality of the member is made. The Credit Union emphasizes responsible lending in its relationships with
members and establishes that loans are within the member’s ability to repay, rather than relying exclusively on
collateral.
Loans to members consist of $1,245,643 (2011 - $1,120,302) residential loans which are secured by residential
property, with a further $205,584 (2011 - $214,971) secured by personal loans. Loans to members also include
$88,759 (2011 - $79,184) of unsecured loans, which principally consist of personal loans and lines of credit.
The Credit Union often takes security as collateral in common with other lending institutions. The Credit Union
maintains guidelines on the acceptability of specific types of collateral. Collateral may include mortgages over
residential properties and charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable.
Where significant impairment indicators are identified, the Credit Union will take additional measures to
manage the risk of default, which may include seeking additional collateral.
For the retail loan portfolio (residential and consumer loans), the Credit Union’s underwriting methodologies
and risk modelling is member based rather than product based. The Credit Union reviews the member’s
capacity to repay the loan rather than relying exclusively on collateral, although it is an important mitigant of
establishing credit risk. Decisions on consumer loans are based on an overall assessment of credit risk utilizing
a scording model that takes into account factors such as Beacon scores and debt levels relative to income.
The credit quality of the commercial loan portfolio for those loans that are neither past due nor impaired can be
assessed by reference to the Credit Union’s internal rating system. The Credit Union assesses the quality of
commercial loans using an internal rating tool taking into consideration a number of factors, such as the
security, the borrower’s management performance, current and projected financial results and industry
statistics related to the borrower’s industry and utilizes the experience and judgment of the Credit department.
Commercial loans are divided into segments based on the following rating system and are regularly reviewed
and updated as appropriate:
Risk rating
1-2
3

4-5

Risk rating descriptions
Excellent to very good - account is identified to be low or normal risk, requires minimal
staff oversight and has a low risk of default
Satisfactory - account has acceptable levels of risk with a potential for a heavier reliance
on asset security. Staff maintain a certain level of oversight based on assessment
factors and industry business practices
Less than satisfactory to poor - management involvement is required as account is
identified to be of higher risk driven by a material adverse change, deterioration of
the financial situation of the member or major security deficiency
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The commercial loan portfolio for those loans that are neither past due nor impaired is as follows:
Risk rating

1-2
3
4-5

2012
$

2011
$

16,371
534,027
9,236

10,130
485,781
13,255

559,634

509,166

Credit risk within the Treasury department arises from the investments in cash resources held by the Credit
Union to meet regulatory and internal liquidity requirements and for general business purposes. This aspect of
credit risk is principally managed by the Treasury department, which reports to the Investment and Lending
Committee. The Treasury department managed assets consist of cash resources and interest bearing deposits
with financial institutions held with Central 1.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet its obligations to
members and other liabilities. To mitigate this risk, the Credit Union is required by the FIA to maintain a
minimum liquidity threshold at all times, based on total members’ deposits and non-equity shares. At
December 31, 2012, the Credit Union’s liquidity exceeded the required level. Included in cash and cash
equivalents and interest bearing deposits with financial institutions are minimum liquidity threshold cash
resources of $175,724 (2011 - $161,284). The Credit Union’s own risk management policies require it to
maintain sufficient liquid resources to cover cash flow imbalances, to retain member confidence in the Credit
Union and to enable the Credit Union to meet all financial obligations. This is achieved through maintaining a
prudent level of liquid assets, through management control of the growth of the loan portfolio, securitizations
and asset-liability maturity management techniques. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Credit
Union’s liquidity requirements on the basis of expected cash flows as part of its liquidity management. The
Credit Union also maintains borrowing facilities of $190,924 as an integral part of its liquidity management
strategy, as disclosed in note 11.
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Cash flows payable under financial liabilities which represents the Credit Union’s exposure to liquidity risk by
remaining contractual maturities are as follows:

December 31, 2012
Member deposits
Borrowings
Money market loans
Secured borrowings
December 31, 2011
Member deposits
Borrowings
Money market loans
Secured borrowings

Less than
1 year
$

1 - 3 years
$

4 - 5 years
$

Total
$

1,396,501

537,320

95,667

2,029,488

89,959
-

21,758

59,053

89,959
80,811

1,414,788

455,226

91,701

1,961,715

48,000
-

-

21,924

48,000
21,924

Market risk
Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the Credit Union’s financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in prevailing market interest rates. Net interest income
reported in the consolidated statement of income may increase or decrease in response to changes in market
interest rates. Accordingly, the Credit Union sets limits on the level of mis-match of interest rate repricing that
may be undertaken, which is monitored by the Credit Union’s Treasury department and reported to the Asset
and Liability Committee (“ALCO”), which is responsible for managing interest rate risk.
In managing interest rate risk, the Credit Union relies primarily upon the use of asset-liability and interest rate
sensitivity simulation models. Periodically, the Credit Union may enter into interest rate swaps to adjust the
exposure to interest rate risk by modifying the repricing of the Credit Union’s financial instruments. The Credit
Union’s derivative instruments are disclosed in note 23.
Sensitivity analysis is used to assess the change in value of the Credit Union’s financial instruments against a
range of incremental basis point changes in interest rates over a 12-month period. Interest rate shock analysis is
calculated in a similar manner to sensitivity analysis but involves a more significant change of 100 basis points
or greater in interest rates. Sensitivity analysis and interest rate shock analysis are calculated on a monthly
basis and are reported to the ALCO. Based on current differences between financial assets and financial
liabilities as at December 31, 2012, the Credit Union estimates that an immediate and sustained 100 basis point
increase in interest rates would increase net interest income by $1,787 (2011 - $2,047) over the next 12 months
while an immediate and sustained 100 basis point decrease in interest rates would decrease net interest income
by $2,363 (2011 - $2,570) over the next 12 months.
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Other types of interest rate risk may involve basis risk. The risk of loss arising from changes in the relationship
of interest rates that have similar but not identical characteristics, for example the difference between prime
rates and the Canadian Deposit Offering Rate (“CDOR”), and prepayment risk (the risk of loss of interest
income arising from the early repayment of fixed rate mortgages and loans) are also monitored on a regular
basis and are reported to the ALCO.
The carrying amounts of interest-sensitive assets and liabilities are presented in the periods in which they next
reprice to market rates or mature and are summed to show the interest rate and maturity gap.
The gap position presented below represents the position outstanding at the close of the business day and may
change significantly in subsequent periods based on member behaviour and the application of the Credit
Union’s asset and liability management policies.
Assets
Fixed term assets, such as residential mortgage loans and consumer loans, are reported based on scheduled
repayments.
Assets that are related to the Credit Union’s prime rate or other short-term market rates are reported in the
variable rate category.
Liabilities
Fixed rate liabilities, such as term deposits, are reported at scheduled maturity.
Interest bearing deposits on which the member interest rate changes with prime or other short-term market
rates are reported within variable rate category.
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Yields
2012
Weighted
average
rate
%

(3,656)

19,250

3 months
to 1 year
$

1.29%

-

22,906

-

-

2.12%

-

9,498

27,486

117,500

-

-

154,484

0.98%
3.81%
1.81%
3.32%

683,528
7,578
152

42,371
-

110,506
-

3,134
1,246,995
7,734
-

22,226
-

1,123
870
16,000

3,134
2,106,749
16,182
16,152

691,258

74,775

137,992

1,375,363

22,226

14,337

2,315,951

635,008
-

89,998
203,455
-

80,811
632,987
-

-

(39)
22,135
115,693

170,770
2,029,488
115,693

635,008

293,453

535,903
535,903

713,798

-

137,789

2,315,951

Statement of financial position
mismatch
Notional amount of derivatives

56,250
-

(218,678)
(97,000)

(397,911)
-

661,565
97,000

22,226
-

(123,452)
-

-

Net mismatch

56,250

(315,678)

(397,911)

758,565

22,226

(123,452)

-

Noninterest
sensitive
$

Total
$

Liabilities and Members’ Equity
Borrowings
Member deposits
Other

1.09%
1.72%

Over 5
years
$

Total
$

Within
3 months
$

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest bearing deposits
with financial institutions
Derivative financial
instruments
Loans to members
Investments
Other

1 to 5
years
$

Noninterest
sensitive
$

Variable
rate
$

2011
Weighted
average
rate
%

Variable
rate
$

Within
3 months
$

3 months
to 1 year
$

0.30%

-

16,769

-

-

-

12,309

29,078

2.62%

-

9,530

35,129

102,570

-

-

147,229

1.50%
4.10%
2.00%
2.06%

705,614
7,589
572

37,013
1,408
-

115
116,036
-

3,576
1,059,362
4,604
-

13,881
-

(774)
1,101
16,923

3,691
1,931,132
14,702
17,495

713,775

64,720

151,280

1,170,112

13,881

29,559

2,143,327

602,094
-

48,000
332,454
-

457,520
-

21,924
546,927
-

-

22,720
111,688

69,924
1,961,715
111,688

602,094

380,454

457,520

568,851

-

134,408

2,143,327

Statement of financial position
mismatch
Notional amount of derivatives

111,681
-

(315,734)
(20,000)

(306,240)
-

601,261
20,000

13,881
-

(104,849)
-

-

Net mismatch

111,681

(335,734)

(306,240)

621,261

13,881

(104,849)

-

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest bearing deposits
with financial institutions
Derivative financial
instruments
Loans to members
Investments
Other

Liabilities and Members’ Equity
Borrowings
Member deposits
Other

1.95%
1.87%

1 to 5
years
$

Over 5
years
$
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Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is not considered significant at this time as the Credit Union does not engage in any
active trading of foreign currency positions or hold significant foreign currency denominated financial
instruments for an extended period. Foreign currency denominated deposits are matched with foreign currency
denominated liquidity to minimize any exposure. Foreign exchange revenues earned by the Credit Union are
primarily generated by crystallized spreads on dollars exchanged with members.
Price risk
The Credit Union is not exposed to significant other price risk.

22 Capital management
The FIA requires the Credit Union to maintain, at all times, a capital base which is adequate in relation to its
business. Capital levels for credit unions in British Columbia are regulated pursuant to guidelines issued by the
Financial Institutions Commission of British Columbia (“FICOM”). Minimum capital standards are based on a
total capital to risk weighted assets (“RWA”) ratio of 8%, along with a requirement that at least 35% of the
capital base consist of retained earnings. The Credit Union met this requirement throughout 2012 and 2011.
Capital is managed in accordance with policies established by the Board. Management regards a strong capital
base as an integral part of the Credit Union’s strategy. The Credit Union has a capital plan to provide a longterm forecast of capital requirements. All of the elements of capital are monitored throughout the year, and
modifications of capital management strategies are made as appropriate.
The capital ratio is calculated by dividing total capital by RWA, which is the assets weighted according to
relative risk (0% to 150%) as determined by FICOM’s prescribed rules relating to on-statement of financial
position and off-statement of financial position exposures.
The total capital is as follows:

Equity shares
Retained earnings
Deferred income tax assets
50% of the Credit Union’s proportion of retained earnings in
CUDIC, Central 1 and Stabilization Central Credit Union as
advised by FICOM
Deductions from capital

2012
$

2011
$

10,591
96,551
(1,411)

13,393
90,924
(1,215)

15,245
(731)

13,333
(623)

120,245

115,812
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23 Derivative financial instruments
The table below provides an analysis of the Credit Union’s derivative-related credit exposure:
2012

Equity options
Interest rate swaps

2011

Notional
amount
$

Fair value
$

Notional
amount
$

Fair value
$

17,387
97,000

1,249
1,885

17,889
173,036

1,194
2,497

3,134

3,691

Notional amounts are the contract amounts used to calculate the cash flows to be exchanged; they do not
represent credit or market risk exposure.
Fair values based on quoted market prices are not available for a significant portion of the Credit Union’s
derivative instruments. Consequently, fair values are derived using present value and other valuation
techniques and may not be indicative of the net realizable values.
The following is a summary of the nature of derivative instruments utilized:
a)

Interest rate swaps are transactions in which two parties exchange interest flows on a specified notional
amount for a predetermined period, based on agreed upon fixed and floating rates. Notional amounts are
not exchanged.
The Credit Union hedges a portion of the interest rate risk that arises on variable interest cash flows on
prime rate mortgages through interest rate derivatives. Interest income and expense include the release
from other reserves of gains or losses relating to the effective portion of qualifying hedging derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges either:
i)

as the hedged item is recorded in interest income (expense); or

ii)

when the forecasted cash flow of the hedged item is no longer probable.

Any ineffectiveness in the hedging relationship is recorded directly in the consolidated statement of
income.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, $512 (net of tax of $80) (2011 – $1,111 (net of tax of $173)) was
the effective portion of changes in fair value for cash flow hedges in the year. The amount transferred to
the consolidated statement of income was $138 (net of tax of $22) (2011 - $171 (net of tax of $27)).
Consolidated other comprehensive income contains $nil (2011 - $876 (net of tax of $137)) in unrealized
net gains on derivatives.
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From time to time, the Credit Union enters into derivative transactions to economically hedge certain
business strategies that do not otherwise qualify for hedge accounting, or where hedge accounting is not
considered economically feasible to implement. During the year ended December 31, 2012, ($197) (2011 $590) was recorded in net interest income as unrealized changes in fair value of these derivatives. In
addition, net interest income contains $862 (2011 - $824) in realized net gains of which $751 (2011 - $nil)
was released from other comprehensive income.
b)

Index-linked call options are equity contracts to pay or receive cash flows based on the increase or decrease
in the underlying index or security. The Credit Union utilizes index-linked option contracts in order to
economically hedge interest expense on the equity index-linked deposits.

The fair value of all outstanding derivative contracts in a gain position, which takes into account credit risk
without factoring in the impact of master netting agreements, totalled $3,134 as at December 31, 2012 (2011 $3,873). The Credit Union manages this credit risk by dealing with counterparties with a minimum credit
rating of “A”, and setting specific limits for investments with those counterparties, which are reviewed monthly.

24 Fair value of financial instruments
The Credit Union has estimated fair values taking into account changes in interest rates and credit risk that
have occurred since the assets and liabilities were acquired. These calculations represent management’s best
estimates based on a range of methods and assumptions; since they involve uncertainties, the fair values may
not be realized in an actual sale or immediate settlement of the instruments. Interest rate changes are the main
cause of changes in the fair value of the Credit Union’s financial instruments. The carrying value is a reasonable
approximation of fair value for the Credit Union’s cash and cash equivalents, demand deposits, and certain
other financial assets and liabilities.
The fair values of financial instruments are as follows:
a)

Interest bearing deposits with financial institutions
The fair value of interest bearing deposits with financial institutions is determined by discounting
remaining contractual cash flows at current market interest rates offered for deposits with similar terms
and risks.

b)

Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of derivative instruments is determined by using quoted market benchmark rates from an
independent source. The Credit Union uses a valuation method that includes discounted cash flows on the
remaining contractual life of a derivative instrument, and valuation models that use observable market
data.
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c)

Loans to members
In determining the fair value of loans to members, the Credit Union incorporates the following
assumptions:

d)

i)

Fair values are determined by discounting remaining contractual cash flows at current market interest
rates offered for loans with similar terms, adjusting for estimated prepayments expected.

ii)

The total value of loans determined using the above assumption is reduced by the allowance for credit
losses to determine the fair value of the Credit Union’s loan portfolio.

Borrowings
The fair value of borrowings is determined by discounting remaining contractual cash flows at current
market interest rates offered for borrowings with similar terms and risks.

e)

Member deposits
In determining the fair value of member deposits, the Credit Union incorporates the following
assumptions:
i)

For fixed rate, fixed maturity deposits, the Credit Union discounts the remaining contractual cash
flows, adjusted for expected redemptions, at market interest rates offered for deposits with similar
terms and risks.

ii)

For floating rate deposits, changes in interest rates have minimal impact on the fair value since
deposits reprice to market frequently. On that basis, fair value is assumed to equal carrying value.

The following represents the approximate fair values of financial instruments of the Credit Union as at the
statement of financial position date:
2012
Carrying
value
$

Fair
value
$

2011

Difference
$

Carrying
value
$

Fair
value
$

Difference
$

Financial assets
Interest bearing deposits
with financial institutions
Derivative financial
instruments
Loans to members

154,484

155,914

1,430

147,229

150,573

3,344

3,134
2,103,885

3,134
2,117,242

13,357

3,691
1,929,842

3,691
1,941,513

11,671

Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Member deposits

170,770
2,029,773

171,168
2,036,204

(398)
(6,431)

69,924
1,962,140

69,924
1,967,920

(5,780)
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The following tables summarize the fair value of financial instruments which are accounted for at fair value on
the Credit Union’s consolidated statement of financial position. Fair value measurements are analyzed
according to a fair value hierarchy of three levels, as outlined below. Observable inputs represent instances
where market data is obtained from independent sources. Unobservable inputs are based on the Credit Union’s
own internal assumptions.
Level 1: Unadjusted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability
either directly or indirectly. This level includes the majority of over the counter derivatives or certain monetary
instruments.
Level 3: Entity level inputs which are not based upon market observable data.
2012
Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Retained interests

-

3,134
-

152

Financial liabilities
Secured borrowings

-

(59,053)

-

-

(55,919)

152
2011

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Retained interests

-

3,691
-

572

Financial liabilities
Secured borrowings

-

(21,924)

-

-

(18,233)

572
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The Credit Union has financial instruments classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and has provided an
analysis of movements in Level 3:

At January 1
Changes in fair value during the year through the consolidated
statement of income
Changes in fair value during the year through consolidated other
comprehensive income
Cash flows received during the year
At December 31

2012
$

2011
$

572

969

-

260

(420)

16
(673)

152

572

The following table shows the sensitivity of the Level 3 measurements to reasonable possible alternative
assumptions which includes a 10% change in the discount and repayment rates:
Reflected in profit or loss
Favourable
Unfavourable
changes
changes
$
$
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2011

20
49

12
50

The above favourable and unfavourable changes are calculated independently from each other. Correlations
and diversification effects are not taken into account.

25 Related party disclosure
Related parties of the Credit Union include subsidiaries, associates, post-employment benefit plans, directors
and other key management personnel (“key management”), close family members of key management and
entities which are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced, or in which significant voting power
is held, by key management or their close family members.
a)

Loans and deposits
The Credit Union provides banking services to key management and persons connected to them.
A number of transactions were entered into with key management in the normal course of business. All
loans to directors, executive management and employees of the Credit Union are subject to the credit
policies established for all members. Credit Union employees may receive special rates or other
considerations with respect to loans at the Credit Union. Directors do not receive special rates or other
considerations with respect to loans at the Credit Union.
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No provisions or loan write-offs have been recognized in respect of loans given to related parties
(2011 - $nil).
2012
$
i)

Loans to related parties:
Loans outstanding at January 1
Loans issued in the year
Loan repayments in the year
Loans outstanding at December 31
Interest income earned

ii)

8,797
6,929
(6,921)

10,396
9,526
(11,125)

8,805

8,797

297

364

Deposits from related parties:
Balance on deposit at January 1
Deposits received in the year
Deposits repaid in the year
Balance on deposit at December 31
Interest expense on deposits

b)

2011
$

3,038
11,407
(11,473)

3,059
11,941
(11,962)

2,972

3,038

55
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2012
$

2011
$

3,653
239
5
-

3,654
261
215

3,897

4,130

Key management compensation

Salary and other short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
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